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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

 

 
DAVID PETTIGREW, on behalf of himself 
and all others similarly situated,  
 
 
    Plaintiffs, 
 
 vs. 
 
 
STAPLES, INC., a Delaware Corporation,  
 
 
                                                 Defendant. 
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Plaintiff David Pettigrew (“Plaintiff”), on behalf of himself and those similarly 

situated, based on information and belief and investigation of counsel, except for information 

based on personal knowledge, hereby alleges: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. This Complaint seeks to remedy the unlawful and unfair business practices of 

defendant Staples, Inc. (“Defendant”) with respect to its ink and toner cartridge recycling rewards 

program (the “Recycling Rewards Program”).  Pursuant to the Recycling Rewards Program, 

Defendant provides reward certificates (“Recycling Rewards Certificates”) in exchange for empty 

ink and toner cartridges.  The empty ink and toner cartridges are a valuable commodity, for which 

there is an active marketplace.  Nevertheless, Defendant includes an expiration date on the 

Recycling Rewards Certificates in violation of California law.  Under California law, it is illegal to 

include an expiration date on gift certificates that are provided in exchange for something of value.   

2. Plaintiff and the Class have provided something of value to Defendant – ink and/or 

toner cartridges – and received the reward certificates in exchange.  In violation of California Civil 

Code § 1749.5, the Recycling Rewards Certificates have expired and will continue to expire 

unless and until Defendant is forced to comply with the law.  Plaintiff and the Class have been 

damaged in an amount equal to the value of the expired Recycling Rewards Certificates and will 

continue to suffer irreparable harm absent this Court’s intervention as existing Recycling Rewards 

Certificates continue to expire and Defendant continues issuing new Recycling Rewards 

Certificates with expiration dates.  

3. Defendant’s conduct of issuing Recycling Rewards Certificates with expiration 

dates violates Cal. Civil Code § 1749.5, and thus constitutes unlawful acts pursuant to California 

Business and Professions Code § 17200, et seq., the Unfair Competition Law (“UCL”).  

Defendant’s conduct of selling Recycling Rewards Certificates with expiration dates also 

constitutes unfair acts in violation of the UCL as such conduct is unethical, oppressive, 

unscrupulous, and/or substantially injurious to consumers, and violates California’s legislatively 

declared policy against issuing gift certificates with expiration dates.  Accordingly, pursuant to 

Business & Professions Code § 17203, Plaintiff seeks an order enjoining Defendant from 
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including expiration dates on all new Recycling Rewards Certificates and requiring Defendant to 

reissue pre-existing Recycling Rewards Certificates without expiration dates.  Further, Plaintiff 

and the Class of similarly situated individuals on whose behalf Plaintiff brings this action seek 

restitution of the full value of all Recycling Rewards Certificates that have previously expired. 

PARTIES 

4. Plaintiff David Pettigrew (“Plaintiff”), is a resident of California.  Plaintiff is a 

member of Defendant’s rewards program and has been since August 2005.  Plaintiff recycles his 

ink and toner cartridges at a Staples store in San Diego, California.  Plaintiff has been issued 

Recycling Rewards Certificates of $3 for each ink cartridge recycled in 2009 and $2 for each ink 

and toner cartridge he recycled after January 1, 2010.  Each of the certificates he has been issued 

included an expiration date.  For example, after recycling four ink cartridges in March 2009, 

Plaintiff was issued a Recycling Rewards Certificate for $12.  The certificate is printed with an 

expiration date of 5/31/2010.  After that date, Plaintiff attempted to use the Recycling Rewards 

Certificate, but Defendant refused to accept it. 

5. Defendant Staples, Inc. is a Delaware limited liability company with its principal 

place of business in Framingham, Massachusetts.  Defendant operates retail stores throughout 

California that sell office supplies.  One of Defendant’s biggest supply categories is ink and toner 

cartridges.  Defendant administers the Recycling Rewards Program in California.   

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

6. The Court has diversity jurisdiction over this action under 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2).   

Plaintiff seeks certification of a nationwide class of all persons who purchased the Recycling 

Rewards Certificates during the applicable statute of limitations.  Defendant is a citizen of 

Massachusetts and/or Delaware.  The amount in controversy, exclusive of interest and costs, 

exceeds $5 million.   

7. The Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendant because it is a corporation that  

has sufficient minimum contacts in California, or otherwise intentionally avails itself of the 

California market through its marketing and sales of the Recycling Rewards Certificates in the 

State of California, and/or by having such other contacts with California so as to render the 
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exercise of jurisdiction over it by the California courts consistent with traditional notions of fair 

play and substantial justice. 

8. Venue is proper pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(a) because a substantial part of the 

events or omissions giving rise to the claim occurred in this District. 

BACKGROUND FACTS 

9. Defendant operates and administers a rewards program designed to provide 

customers with incentives to shop at its stores (the “Staples Rewards Program”).  Any customer 

may apply to become a member of the Staples Rewards Program at any of Defendant’s retail 

outlets or online.  There are two types of rewards that members are entitled to: (1) rewards that are 

equal to 10% of the total amount of qualifying purchases; and (2) rewards provided to members 

who recycle ink and toner cartridges.  The Recycling Rewards Program is separate from the 10% 

of qualifying purchase rewards and Defendant issues separate rewards certificates for the different 

parts of its reward program. 

10.  Defendant instituted the Recycling Rewards Program in May 2007.  From that 

time up until July 1, 2010, Defendant provided a $3 Recycling Rewards Certificate for each ink 

and toner cartridge recycled at one of its stores.  As of July 1, 2010, Defendant reduced the 

amount of the recycling reward to $2 per cartridge.  Recycling Rewards are now issued online on a 

monthly basis, separately from standard rewards statements.  Recycling Rewards expire two 

months from the end of the calendar month of issuance.  The rewards are redeemable for 

Defendant’s products in a store, by phone, or online.  Through the Recycling Rewards Program, 

Defendant recycled over 22 million ink and toner cartridges in the United States in 2008, and over 

55 million cartridges in 2009. 

11. Although terms and conditions for the Staples Rewards Program exist, there is no 

valid contract between enrollees in the Staples Rewards Program and Defendant.  Plaintiff and the 

Class were never required to read or acknowledge the terms and conditions of the program.  Thus, 

Plaintiff and the Class never assented to the terms of the Staples Rewards Program. 

12. Used ink and toner cartridges are valuable commodities for which there is an active 

and lucrative secondary market.  For example, Advantage Cartridge purchases empty cartridges 
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for up to $20 per cartridge.1  Another used ink and toner cartridge recycler, TonerBuyer.com, 

purchases empty cartridges for up to $22 per cartridge. 2  These companies accept cartridges from 

individuals and organizations throughout the U.S.  Ink and toner cartridges accepted by Defendant 

are either remanufactured as Defendant’s brand cartridges and resold by Defendant, or recycled by 

Defendant itself.   

13. California law prohibits the sale of gift certificates with an expiration date.  Cal. 

Civil Code § 1749.5(a).  California law broadly defines “sale” as “[a]ny transfer of title or 

possession, exchange, or barter, conditional or otherwise, in any manner or by any means 

whatsoever, of tangible personal property for a consideration.”  Cal. Revenue & Taxation Code  

§ 6006(a).  By furnishing the Recycling Rewards Certificates in exchange for valuable ink and 

toner cartridges, Defendant sells, has sold, and continues to sell the Recycling Rewards 

Certificates. 

14. Notably, California’s prohibition against the sale of gift certificates with an 

expiration date includes an exception for “[g]ift certificates that are distributed by the issuer to a 

consumer pursuant to an awards, loyalty, or promotional program without any money or other 

thing of value being given in exchange for the gift certificate by the consumer.  Cal. Civil Code § 

1749.5(d)(1) (emphasis added).  Here, since consumers exchange valuable ink and toner cartridges 

for the Recycling Rewards Certificates, this exception does not apply. 

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

15.  Plaintiff brings this suit as a class action pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil  

Procedure 23, on behalf of himself and the class defined as follows: 

all persons who received Recycling Rewards Certificates in 

California during the applicable statute of limitations.  Specifically 

excluded from this Class are Defendant; the officers, directors or 

employees of Defendant; any entity in which Defendant has a 

                                                 
1 Advantage Cartridge website, http://www.advantagecartridge.com/, last visited on June 2, 

2011. 

2 TonerBuyer.com website, http://www.tonerbuyer.com/, last visited on June 2, 2011. 
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controlling interest; and any affiliate, legal representative, heir or 

assign of Defendant.  Also excluded are any federal, state or local 

governmental entities, any judicial officer presiding over this action 

and the members of his/her immediate family and judicial staff, and 

any juror assigned to this action. 

(the “Class”).   

16. The Class is sufficiently numerous, as it includes thousands of persons who have 

received Recycling Reward Certificates.  Thus, joinder of such persons in a single action or 

bringing all members of the Class before the Court is impracticable for purposes of Rule 23(a)(1) 

of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  The disposition of the claims of the members of the Class 

in this class action will substantially benefit both the parties and the Court.  The members of the 

Class are readily ascertainable from Defendant’s records and other appropriate discovery.  

17. There are questions of law and fact common to the Classes for purposes of Federal  

Rule of Civil Procedure 23(a)(2).  Defendant has a standardized Recycling Rewards Program that 

it uses throughout California.  Thus, there is a well-defined community of interest in the questions 

of law and fact involved in this action and affecting the parties. 

18. Plaintiff asserts claims that are typical of the claims of the entire Class for purposes 

of Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23(a)(3).  Plaintiff and all members of the Class have been 

subjected to the same wrongful conduct because they have exchanged used ink and toner 

cartridges for Recycling Reward Certificates that have expiration dates.  Plaintiff and the Class 

have thus all been subjected to the same unlawful and unfair conduct.   

19. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately represent and protect the interests of the other  

members of the Class for purposes of Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23(a)(4).  Plaintiff has no 

interests antagonistic to those of other members of the Class.  Plaintiff is committed to the 

vigorous prosecution of this action and has retained counsel experienced in litigation of this nature 

to represent him.  Plaintiff anticipates no difficulty in the management of this litigation as a class 

action. 

20. Class certification is appropriate under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23(b)(2)  
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because Defendant has acted on grounds that apply generally to the Class, so that final injunctive 

relief or corresponding declaratory relief is appropriate respecting the Class as a whole.  

Defendant sells Recycling Rewards Certificates in exchange for used ink and toner cartridges that 

illegally include expiration dates. 

21. Class certification is appropriate under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23(b)(3)  

because common questions of law and fact substantially predominate over any questions that may 

affect only individual members of the Class.  Among these common questions of law and fact are: 

a. whether Defendant issues Recycling Rewards Certificates in exchange for 

used ink and toner cartridges; 

b. whether the Recycling Rewards Certificates have expiration dates; 

c. whether used ink and toner cartridges constitute a “thing of value” under 

California law; 

d. whether Defendant’s Recycling Rewards Certificates violate Cal. Civil 

Code § 1749.5; 

e. whether Plaintiff and the Class are entitled to refunds for all expired 

Recycling Rewards Certificates; and 

f. whether the expiration dates on all unexpired Recycling Rewards 

Certificates should be voided. 

22. Proceeding as a class action provides substantial benefits to both the parties and the 

Court because this is the most efficient method for the fair and efficient adjudication of the 

controversy.  Class members have suffered and will suffer irreparable harm and damages as a 

result of Defendant’s wrongful conduct.  Because of the nature of the individual Class members’ 

claims, few, if any, could or would otherwise afford to seek legal redress against Defendant for the 

wrongs complained of herein, and a representative class action is therefore appropriate, the 

superior method of proceeding, and essential to the interests of justice insofar as the resolution of 

Class members’ claims is concerned.  Absent a representative class action, members of the Class 

would continue to suffer losses for which they would have no remedy, and Defendant would 

unjustly retain the proceeds of its ill-gotten gains.  Even if separate actions could be brought by 
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individual members of the Class, the resulting multiplicity of lawsuits would cause undue 

hardship, burden and expense for the Court and the litigants, as well as create a risk of inconsistent 

rulings which might be dispositive of the interests of the other members of the Class who are not 

parties to the adjudications and/or may substantially impede their ability to protect their interests. 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 
(Plaintiff, On Behalf of Himself and the Class Alleges Violations of California Business & 

Professions Code § 17200, et seq. Based on Commission of Unlawful Acts) 

23. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference herein Paragraphs 1 through 22 of 

this Complaint. 

24. The violation of any law constitutes an unlawful business practice under Business 

& Professions Code § 17200. 

25. As detailed more fully in the preceding paragraphs, Defendant’s inclusion of 

expiration dates on the Recycling Reward Certificates violates Cal. Civil Code § 1749.5.   

26. By violating Civil Code § 1749.5, Defendant has engaged in unlawful business acts 

and practices which constitute unfair competition within the meaning of Business & Professions 

Code § 17200. 

27. An action for injunctive relief and restitution is specifically authorized under 

Business & Professions Code § 17203. 

28. Plaintiff exchanged valuable property in the form of used ink and toner cartridges 

in exchange for Recycling Rewards Certificates that expired.  Plaintiff has thus suffered injury in 

fact and lost money or property as a direct result of Defendant’s illegal conduct. 

Wherefore, Plaintiff prays for judgment against Defendant, as set forth hereafter. 
 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 
(Plaintiff, On Behalf of Himself and the Class, Alleges Violations of  

California Business & Professions Code § 17200, et seq. 
Based on Unfair Acts and Practices) 

29. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference as if specifically set forth herein 

Paragraphs 1 through 28 of this Complaint. 
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30. Under Business & Professions Code § 17200, any business act or practice that is 

unethical, oppressive, unscrupulous and/or substantially injurious to consumers, or that violates a 

legislatively declared policy, constitutes an unfair business act or practice. 

31. Defendant has engaged, and continues to engage, in conduct which is immoral, 

unethical, oppressive, unscrupulous and/or substantially injurious to consumers.  This conduct 

includes, but is not limited to, including expiration dates on Defendant’s Recycling Rewards 

Certificates, even though such expiration dates are prohibited under California law.  The gravity of 

harm caused by Defendant’s conduct as described herein far outweighs the utility, if any, of such 

conduct. 

32. Further, Defendant has engaged, and continues to engage, in conduct that violates 

the legislatively declared policy of Cal. Civil Code § 1749.5 against the inclusion of expiration 

dates on gift certificates.  Defendant gains an unfair advantage over its competitors, whose gift 

certificates and rewards programs must comply with Cal. Civil Code § 1749.5.   

33. Defendant’s conduct has and continues to cause substantial injury to consumers 

because consumers exchanged valuable property in the form of used ink and toner cartridges in 

exchange for Recycling Rewards Certificates that expired.  Consumers have thus exchanged 

something of value for certificates that have no value.  Such injury is not outweighed by any 

countervailing benefits to consumers or competition.  Indeed, no benefit to consumers or 

competition results from Defendants’ conduct.  Since injury results from normal use of the 

Recycling Rewards Certificates, consumers could not have reasonably avoided such injury.   

34. By committing the acts alleged above, Defendant has engaged in unfair business 

acts and practices which constitute unfair competition within the meaning of Business & 

Professions Code § 17200. 

35. An action for injunctive relief and restitution is specifically authorized under 

Business & Professions Code § 17203. 

36. Plaintiff exchanged valuable property in the form of used ink and toner cartridges 

in exchange for Recycling Rewards Certificates that expired.  Plaintiff has thus suffered injury in 

fact and lost money or property as a direct result of Defendant’s illegal conduct. 
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Wherefore, Plaintiff prays for judgment against Defendant, as set forth hereafter. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for judgment and relief against Defendant as 

follows: 

A. That the Court declare this a class action; 

B. That the Court preliminarily and permanently enjoin Defendant from 

conducting its business through the unlawful acts and practices described in this Complaint, 

including, but not limited to prohibiting Defendant from issuing any new Recycling Rewards 

Certificates with expiration dates and from enforcing expiration dates on existing Recycling 

Rewards Certificates;  

C. That the Court order Defendant to provide all Class members with new 

Recycling Rewards Certificates with no expiration date that are of equal value to any unused 

certificates previously or currently held by Class members;  

D. That the Court order Defendant to implement whatever other measures are 

necessary to remedy the unlawful business acts or practices described in this Complaint; 

E. That the Court order Defendant to notify each and every individual and/or 

business who were issued Recycling Rewards Certificates of the pendency of the claims in this 

action in order to give such individuals and businesses an opportunity to obtain restitution from 

Defendant; 

F. That the Court order Defendant to pay restitution to restore to all affected 

persons all funds acquired by means of any act or practice declared by this Court to be an unlawful 

business act or practice plus pre- and post-judgment interest thereon; 

G. That the Court order Defendant to disgorge all monies wrongfully obtained 

and all revenues and profits derived by Defendant as a result of their acts or practices as alleged in 

this Complaint;  

J. That the Court grant Plaintiff his reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs of suit 

pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure § 1021.5, the common fund doctrine and/or any other 

appropriate legal theory; and 
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K. That the Court grant such other and further relief as may be just and proper.  
 
 
 
 

DATED:  June 7, 2011 LEXINGTON LAW GROUP 
 

 
 

s/Mark N. Todzo__________________________    
Mark N. Todzo (State Bar No. 168389) 
Howard J. Hirsch (State Bar No. 213209) 
LEXINGTON LAW GROUP  
503 Divisadero Street 
San Francisco, CA 94117 
Telephone: (415) 913-7800 
Facsimile: (415) 759-4112 
mtodzo@lexlawgroup.com 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff David Pettigrew 
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